Evidence for a role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in schizophrenia

Catherine E. Adams^{1,2}, Karen E. Stevens^{1,2}

Department of Psychiatry, ¹Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Denver, CO 80220, ²University of Colorado at Denver and Health Sciences Center, Aurora, CO 80045

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
 - 2.1. Incidence of Schizophrenia
 - 2.2. Cost for diagnosis of schizophrenia
 - 2.3. Etiology of schizophrenia
 - 2.4. Symptoms of schizophrenia
- 3. Smoking and schizophrenia
 - 3.1. Why do schizophrenics smoke?
 - 3.1.1. Common neurobiological substrate theory
 - 3.1.2. Self-medication theory
- 4. Nicotinic Receptors
 - 4.1. Nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia
 - 4.2. Nicotinic receptor subunit genes in schizophrenia
 - 4.3. Potential epigenetic modification of nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia
 - 4.4. Nicotinic receptor assembly in schizophrenia
 - 4.5. Calcium regulation of nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia
- 5. Potential new therapies
- 6. Perspective
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Schizophrenia is a debilitating, complex and costly illness affecting roughly 1% of the world's inhabitants. The excessive degree of cigarette smoking exhibited by schizophrenic patients suggests that they might be self-medicating to ameliorate certain aspects of the characteristic positive, negative and cognitive symptoms associated with the disease. Morphological examinations found alterations in nicotinic receptors in postmortem tissue from schizophrenic individuals compared to controls, especially in the α 7 and α4β2 subtypes. These data were consistent with molecular biology studies which demonstrated associations between polymorphisms in gene coding for these receptors and schizophrenia. In studies of nicotinic receptor stimulation in schizophrenia patients, improvement in sensory inhibition and cognitive deficits were observed following treatment, though the effects were transient. These results have spurred the development of new pharmaceuticals specifically designed to modulate nicotinic receptor function. The initial results from clinical trials of these new drugs appear promising, potentially opening new avenues of treatment for this devastating disease.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1. Incidence of schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a complex illness affecting roughly 1% of the world's inhabitants (1-4), although higher incidences (2 – 3%) of the disorder have been observed in more insular populations (5-7). On the whole, the risk of developing schizophrenia is comparable in men and women (8, 9), but gender differences do exist in the initial age of onset of the disease (8, 10-12). First hospital admissions peak in the early twenties in young men, but not until the late twenties in young women, although women exhibit a second smaller peak in initial admissions after age 45. The age of onset of schizophrenia appears to correlate with the severity of symptoms and with a poorer course of the disease in younger men and older women (8, 11, 13).

2.2. Cost for diagnosis of schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a very costly disease. Treatment of psychotic disorders worldwide accounted for 1.5-3.0% of national health expenditures from the 1980s to 2002 (United Kingdom - 1.5-3.0%, Germany - 1.3%, the Netherlands and France - 2.0%, United States - 2.5%) (14, 15). In 2002, the excess cost of schizophrenia (the cost

above that required for treating individuals without schizophrenia) was estimated to be \$62.7 billion in the United States alone (16). Total direct health care costs (drugs, outpatient care, professional fees, hospital inpatient care, long-term care) accounted for \$22.7 billion of the overall cost, non-health care costs (law enforcement, research and training, homeless shelters) accounted for \$9.3 billion of the overall cost, while the remainder (\$32.4 billion) was due to indirect costs (unemployment, reduced productivity, premature mortality due to suicide, loss of caregiver productivity) (16). In addition to the economic cost, schizophrenia also exacts a high price from the families of schizophrenic patients, resulting in increased stress, strong emotional reaction to the disease, disruption of household routines, restriction of social activities and societal stigma (15). A greater understanding of the etiology of schizophrenia is, therefore, not only important from an individual standpoint, but also important for society as a whole.

2.3. Etiology of schizophrenia

Studies examining the relative concordance rate for schizophrenia between monozygotic and dizygotic twins estimate that schizophrenia has a heritability of 80-85% (2). Schizophrenia is not transmitted in a Mendelian fashion, but is thought to result from modest abnormalities in many so-called "risk" genes acting in combination with environmental factors (17). A number of candidate genes for schizophrenia have been identified during recent years. These candidate genes have been linked either to schizophrenia itself or to endophenotypes (traits) associated with schizophrenia (2). A few of the candidate genes include NRG1 (neuregulin 1), DTNBP1 (dysbindin), DAAO (D-aminoacid oxidase), RGS4 (regulator of Gprotein signaling-4), COMT (catechol-Omethyltransferase), PRODH (proline dehydrogenase), CAPON (carboxy-terminal PDZ ligand of neuronal nitric oxide synthase), CCK (cholecystokinin) and CHRNA7 (alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor).

A variety of environmental factors have been suggested to play a role in the etiology of schizophrenia. Increased vulnerability to schizophrenia has been found following maternal exposure to influenza (18, 19). Obstetric complications are also associated with a higher risk for developing schizophrenia (20), including problems during pregnancy (preeclampsia, diabetes, rhesus incompatibility and bleeding) and during delivery (atonic uterus, asphyxia and emergency caesarian section). Individuals born during winter months also exhibit a higher incidence of schizophrenia (21). Additional environmental risk factors for schizophrenia include cannabis use (22), immigration status (23, 24), urban background (12, 25) and stress (26, 27).

2.4. Symptoms of schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is characterized by three general types of symptoms: positive symptoms (psychosis), negative symptoms and cognitive symptoms. Not all schizophrenic patients exhibit each of the symptoms, nor are the symptoms exclusive to schizophrenia (3, 4, 28, 29). Positive symptoms refer to a loss of contact with reality and

consist of hallucinations, delusions, bizarre behavior and positive formal thought disorders. Negative symptoms refer to a diminution in or absence of normal behaviors and include flattening of affect, alogia, avolition and anhedonia. Cognitive symptoms manifest as deficits in attention, learning, memory, concentration and executive functions (abstract thinking, problem solving). Cognitive impairment appears to be present premorbidly in individuals that later develop schizophrenia (30, 31), increases slightly just prior to the onset of psychotic symptoms (30) and may show minimal further deterioration over the course of the disease, or may continue to worsen (30, 32, 33). Of the three symptom categories, degree of cognitive dysfunction appears to be the best predictor of functional outcome in schizophrenic patients (34) and may, with appropriate cognitive assessment tools, serve as a vulnerability marker for schizophrenia (34-36).

3. SMOKING AND SCHIZOPHRENIA

The incidence of smoking among the mentally ill is disproportionately high compared to the population in general, but the rate in the schizophrenic population even exceeds that seen in other mental illnesses (37, 38). This excessively high rate has long been recognized, but was commonly attributed to institutionalization or social issues as opposed to a biological source (39-41). In fact, cigarettes were often used as a reward for good behavior on psychiatric wards (42, 43), further encouraging smoking in this population. When the health risks of smoking and exposure to second-hand smoke became widely recognized, smoking on wards was curtailed. However, patients began complaining not only of nicotine withdrawal symptoms, but also exhibited an exacerbation of their schizophrenia symptoms (44). This was the first indication that schizophrenia patients might be deriving psychotropic benefit from smoking.

Even with the recognition of the health risks associated with smoking, the incidence rate among schizophrenia patients remains substantially above that of individuals with other mental illnesses and the population as a whole. Various studies have reported smoking incidence among schizophrenia patients of 50 - 90% (39, 41, 45, 46), among the non-schizophrenic mentally ill population of around 25% (47) and among the general population of between 12 - 22% (39, 47). Even though schizophrenia patients appear to understand the risks associated with smoking and may voice a desire to guit (48, 49), the successful quitting rate is very low (39, 50, 51). Schizophrenia patients tend to be heavy smokers (42, 43, 52, 53), even smoking discarded butts and filters which are highly concentrated with nicotine (41). Schizophrenics also extract higher levels of nicotine from the cigarettes they smoke (53, 54).

3.1. Why do schizophrenics smoke?

There are two main theories as to why schizophrenia patients smoke so heavily and in such high numbers. The first states that there is a common neurobiological substrate which underlies both the need to smoke and the vulnerability to schizophrenia (39, 55). The

second is the "self medication" hypothesis in which schizophrenics are thought to smoke to alleviate anhedonic effects of their antipsychotic medication or to relieve symptoms not addressed by their antipsychotic medication.

3.1.1. Common neurobiological substrate theory

This theory proposes that the excessive smoking observed in schizophrenic populations occurs because both the need to smoke and the vulnerability to schizophrenia arise from a common neurobiological substrate (39, 55). Support for this viewpoint is provided by reports showing that the initiation of smoking often precedes the onset of schizophrenia symptoms (56-58). Further support is derived from studies suggesting that schizophrenia is a neurodevelopmental disorder (59, 60), with observable deficits in infancy (61) and at school age (62). Although these data provide a plausible foundation for the theory of a common neurobiological substrate, they do not as yet provide insight into the nature of this common substrate. An additional limitation is that direct testing of the theory may prove difficult.

3.1.2. Self-medication theory

The self medication theory has two aspects. The first is that smoking alleviates the anhedonia and some of the Parkinson's-like symptoms induced by typical antipsychotic medications. The second is that certain symptoms of schizophrenia are not addressed by antipsychotics and smoking relieves these symptoms.

Nicotine has been demonstrated to increase the release of dopamine, particularly in the mesocorticolimbic and nigrostriatal pathways (63). The nicotine-induced increase in dopaminergic tone supports the notion that smoking may alleviate anhedonia and Parkinson's like symptoms produced by dopaminergic blockade, a component of the typical and many of the atypical antipsychotics (64). Additionally, the increased dopamine release may serve to offset the sedation often observed with antipsychotic medications (65). However, it has been noted that smoking behavior and schizophrenia are associated independently of antipsychotic treatment (56) and the initiation of smoking behavior often precedes the initiation of treatment with antipsychotics (43).

Alternately, the nicotine in cigarette smoke may relieve symptoms unaddressed by antipsychotic medications, such as cognitive impairments or sensory processing deficits. Cognitive issues are now a recognized component of the schizophrenia symptom constellation (see above) and are receiving as much attention as positive and negative symptoms (32, 66). Improvement in cognition in schizophrenia patients has been positively correlated with improved functional outcomes (34). Several studies have demonstrated that stimulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR) either by nicotine (67-69) or through cholinomimetics such as physostigmine (70) produces improvement in cognitive function in schizophrenia patients. Cognitive deficits are addressed somewhat by atypical antipsychotics, but very poorly by the typical antipsychotics (34, 71). The improvement with atypical antipsychotics is thought to occur as a function of an increase in acetylcholine release in the prefrontal cortex (72) and the hippocampus (73), thereby increasing stimulation of cholinergic receptors. Thus, unmedicated patients and those on typical antipsychotics may be seeking improvement in their cognitive functioning through smoking cigarettes.

Sensory processing deficits are common among schizophrenia patients and are poorly treated by typical antipsychotics, although some atypical antipsychotics have proven to be more efficacious. Deficits in sensory processing are quantifiable with several different paradigms, including prepulse startle inhibition (PPI) (for review see (74-77), smooth pursuit eye movements (SPEM) (for review see (78-80) and P50 sensory inhibition. In P50 sensory inhibition, repeated stimuli induce activity in an inhibitory circuit in normal individuals such that the evoked response to the repetitive information is suppressed (81-86). This inhibition of response protects the brain from information overload. In schizophrenia patients, this inhibitory circuit does not function normally and these individuals often become overwhelmed or "flooded" by incoming sensory information. This "flooding" phenomenon is thought to lead to personality decompensation (87, 88). Deficits in this P50 sensory processing circuit correlate with cognitive deficits (86, 89), and may be related to impaired attentional indices (89). It is possible to measure the activity in the inhibitory circuit by assessing the EEG evoked responses to closely-paired, identical auditory stimuli. Normal individuals show a significant reduction in response to the second stimulus (ratio second stimulus amplitude/first stimulus amplitude of <0.04) while schizophrenia patients and many first degree relatives show responses of similar magnitude to both stimuli (81, 83, 85), indicating a deficit in normal inhibitory mechanisms in the latter groups. Typical antipsychotics do not improve the deficit (90, 91), while certain of the atypicals, particularly clozapine, show improvement (92, 93). Improvement with olanzapine is more variable (94-96). However, transient improvement in deficient P50 sensory inhibition was observed in controlled studies of nicotine use, either through smoking cigarettes or chewing nicotine gum (97, 98). As it is generally agreed that the active component of cigarette smoke is nicotine (39, 57, 86, 99), these data strongly imply that schizophrenic patients smoke excessively, at least in part, in an attempt to influence nicotinic receptor function.

4. NICOTINIC RECEPTORS

Neuronal nAChR are pentameric protein structures forming a membrane channel which fluxes calcium when activated (100-103). To date, 11 genes coding for nicotinic cholinergic subunits have been identified in the mammalian genome. These include $\alpha 2-\alpha 7$, $\alpha 9$, $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2-\beta 4$ (for review see (104-107). $\alpha 7$ and $\alpha 9$ subunits form functional homomeric receptors, while the remaining α subunits combine with β subunits in a 2:3 ratio to form heteromeric structures of various combinations (106, 108-110). Neuronal nicotinic receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system (CNS). The most common receptor type is the $\alpha 4\beta 2$, a high affinity

receptor with a relatively slow desensitization rate (106, 111, 112). α 7 receptors, a low affinity rapidly desensitizing subtype, are also well distributed in the brain (106, 111, 112) while the distributions of other subtypes are more limited in the CNS (111).

4.1. Nicotinic Receptors In Schizophrenia

As stated previously, excessive smoking by schizophrenic patients could be a response to abnormal nicotinic receptor function in this disease. Indirect evidence for nicotinic receptor malfunction in schizophrenia was provided by Mukherjee et al. (113) who reported significantly higher serum levels of antibodies to nicotinic receptors in schizophrenics compared to controls. Nicotinic receptors are activated by the neurotransmitter acetylcholine. Cholinergic innervation of the forebrain appears to be essentially normal in postmortem schizophrenic brain. The number of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis of Meynert, the source of acetylcholine projections to the forebrain (114) is comparable in schizophrenics and controls (115). In addition, choline acetyltransferase and acetylcholinesterase, two markers for the cholinergic system, exhibit similar levels in the forebrain of schizophrenics and controls (116, 117), although a negative correlation was found between the activity of forebrain choline acetyltransferase and the degree of cognitive impairment in schizophrenic patients (117). In contrast, brainstem cholinergic systems may be compromised in schizophrenia, as abnormalities in pedunculopontine (118) and mesopontine (119) cholinergic neurons have been found in postmortem schizophrenic tissue. These data indicate that if central nicotinic receptors are abnormal in schizophrenia, the abnormalities do not appear to result primarily from changes in cholinergic innervation, except perhaps in the brainstem.

Direct examination of postmortem tissue from schizophrenic patients has generally revealed a decreased density in the low affinity nicotinic receptor subtype - the α 7 receptor. Freedman *et al.* (120) examined binding of ¹¹²⁵- α -bungarotoxin (α -BTX), an antagonist at the α 7 receptor, to sections of hippocampus from schizophrenics and controls. Tissue from schizophrenic individuals was characterized by fewer α -BTX-labeled cells as well as by less labeling/cell in the dentate gyrus and hippocampal area CA3. No difference in α-BTX binding was observed between the two groups in hippocampal area CA1. Binding of ¹¹²⁵-α-BTX to sections of reticular thalamic nucleus (RTN) from schizophrenics was reduced by 25% compared to binding in control RTN sections (121). The RTN was the only thalamic nucleus to exhibit a disparity in α 7 receptor levels between the two cohorts. Schizophreniaassociated decreases in α 7 receptor density have also been observed in several cortical areas. Marutle et al. (122) examined ¹¹²⁵-α-BTX binding to sections of three cortical regions from schizophrenic and control brains. The density of α-BTX binding in the control tissue was highest in the cingulate cortex, intermediate in the orbitofrontal cortex and lowest in the temporal cortex. α-BTX binding density was reversed in tissue from schizophrenic individuals, ie. temporal cortex > orbitofrontal cortex > cingulate cortex.

A 50% decrease in ¹¹²⁵-α-BTX binding was detected in the cingulate cortex of schizophrenics in this study, but only in comparison to controls with a history of smoking. Guan et al. (123) analyzed the density of α 7 receptors in frontal and parietal cortical homogenates from schizophrenic patients and controls using antibodies to the α 7 receptor. When compared to controls, a 40% decrease in α 7 receptor levels was observed in frontal, but not parietal, regions of schizophrenic cortex. A 20 - 28% reduction in α7 receptor immunoreactivity, with no change in α7 receptor mRNA levels, was reported in the dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex (Brodmann area 46) of schizophrenic individuals compared to controls (124). The data from these two studies should be viewed with caution, however, as antibodies to the α 7 receptor have recently been shown to be nonselective (125). A 2.7-fold increase in mRNA for the α 7 receptor was found in stellate neurons of schizophrenic entorhinal cortex by Hemby et al. (126), contrary to the results of Martin-Ruiz et al. (124). To date, only one study has reported comparable levels of α7 receptors in postmortem tissue from schizophrenics and controls (127). In this study, α 7 receptor density was measured in homogenates of hippocampus and cortex (area 8/9) using the α 7 receptor antagonist ^{3H}-methyllycaconitine (MLA) instead of ¹¹²⁵-α-BTX. The use of this alternate α 7 receptor antagonist may account for the lack of binding differences in the two groups. Taken together, the majority of the data suggest that schizophrenia is characterized by a decrease in α 7 receptor density in circumscribed regions of the brain.

The literature is less consistent with regard to schizophrenia-associated alterations in brain levels of high affinity nicotinic receptors – those containing β_2 , α_4 and/or α₃ subunits. Significant reductions in binding of both ^{3H}cytisine (120) and ^{3H}-nicotine (127) to hippocampal homogenates was observed in schizophrenic smokers compared to control smokers, suggesting that high affinity nicotinic receptors are decreased in schizophrenic hippocampus. No change in ^{3H}-nicotine binding was observed in sections of postmortem schizophrenic thalamus relative to controls (121) nor in thalamic homogenates (127) from schizophrenic smokers versus control smokers, suggesting that high affinity nicotinic receptors are unaltered in schizophrenia in this brain region. postmortem striatal sections from schizophrenic patients, binding of ^{3H}-nicotine was 48 - 78% above control values overall, but only 24 – 49% above the values of controls that smoked (128). These data conflict, however, with reports of a significant reduction in binding of ^{3H}-epibatidine to caudate homogenates from schizophrenic smokers compared to control smokers (127) and of a 30% reduction in binding of ^{3H}-cytisine to striatal homogenates (129) in schizophrenics relative to controls. Contradictory data has also been reported for high affinity nicotinic receptors in the cerebral cortex. Breese et al. (127) found significant decreases in binding of both 3H-nicotine and 3H-epibatidine in cortical homogenates from schizophrenic smokers compared to control smokers. These data disagree with observations by Marutle et al. (122) of increased 3Hcytisine binding in orbitofrontal cortex ($\uparrow 52 - 59\%$) and cingulate cortex († 15 - 22%) as well as increased 3H-

epibatidine binding in temporal cortex ($\uparrow 52 - 59\%$) from schizophrenics relative to controls matched for smoking history. Martin-Ruiz et al. (124) also reported two-fold increases in 3H-epibatidine binding in homogenates of schizophrenic dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Brodmann area 46) compared to controls matched for smoking history. Immunoreactivity for α_4 α_3 and β_2 nicotinic subunits was not changed in this study despite the increase in 3Hepibatidine binding. Again, caution should be used in evaluating the immunohistochemistry data, as antibodies to all nicotinic receptor subunits, including the α_4 , α_3 and β_2 subunits, have been shown to be unreliable (130). Therefore, it is currently unclear whether, and in what direction, levels of high affinity nicotinic receptors may be altered in cerebral cortex and striatum from schizophrenic patients. The variability in the binding data could arise from disparities in tissue sampling, from differences in experimental techniques used and/or from differential treatment of the schizophrenic patients, although neuroleptic administration in animals does not appear to affect high affinity nicotinic receptor binding (131, 132). It is possible that significant changes in the levels of nicotinic receptor subtypes occur only in a subpopulation of schizophrenic individuals, while alterations in nAChR function (see below) without changes in receptor density may be a more common feature of the disease.

Support for a schizophrenia-associated alteration in the function of high affinity nicotinic receptors has recently been provided. Cigarette smoking in normal controls is associated with an upregulation of high affinity nicotinic receptors. Breese *et al.* (131) found significant increases in ^{3H}-nicotine binding in postmortem hippocampus and thalamus from life-long smoking controls compared to non-smoking controls. The increase in 3Hnicotine binding was due to an increase in the number of receptors (B_{max}) with no change in the affinity of the receptors (K_d) . The extent of increased 3H -nicotine binding was dependent upon the number of packs of cigarettes smoked per day, indicating that normal smokers exhibit a dose-dependent increase in ^{3H}-nicotine binding sites. Binding of ^{3H}-nicotine in tissue from individuals that had stopped smoking for at least two months prior to death was at or below non-smoking control values. When $^{\rm 3H}$ -nicotine binding was compared across postmortem tissues from schizophrenic smokers, nonsmokers and smokers who had quit, a marginally significant increase in binding density was seen in schizophrenic smokers relative to nonsmokers only in cerebral cortex (127). Surprisingly, binding of ^{3H}nicotine in hippocampus and thalamus did not differ across the three groups. Binding of ^{3H}-epibatidine in cortex again differed significantly between schizophrenic smokers and nonsmokers, but no difference was seen in 3H-epibatidine binding in caudate from the three groups. When 3Hnicotine binding was correlated with smoking history, an increase in binding was found with increasing smoking in hippocampus and cortex from both schizophrenics and controls. However, the slope of the regression line in schizophrenics was reduced 40% (hippocampus) and 50% (cortex) relative to control smokers. Binding of 3Hepibatidine in thalamus and caudate was not correlated with smoking history. Correlation of smoking history with

Scatchard analysis of ^{3H}-nicotine and ^{3H}-epibatidine binding in cortical tissue from schizophrenics and controls revealed a reduced level of receptor binding in tissue from the schizophrenic patients for the same level of cigarette smoking compared to controls. Thus, high affinity nicotinic receptors exhibit abnormal function in schizophrenic patients in that they fail to up-regulate in a normal manner in response to cigarette smoking.

4.2. Nicotinic receptor subunit genes in schizophrenia

Nicotinic receptors could be altered in schizophrenia as a result of polymorphisms in the genes encoding the nicotinic receptor subunits. As stated previously, schizophrenia is thought to arise from a combination of multigene abnormalities and environmental factors (17). Data from a number of studies suggest that CHRNA7, the gene encoding the α 7 nicotinic receptor subunit, may be a susceptibility gene for schizophrenia. The deficit in hippocampal auditory (P50) sensory processing characteristic of schizophrenic patients has been genetically linked to a dinucleotide polymorphism at the chromosome 15q13-14 site of the α 7 receptor (133). In addition, linkage of schizophrenia itself to the chromosome 15q13-14 site has been found in the NIMH Genetic Initiative pedigrees (134-137) as well as in several other pedigrees (138-144), although other studies have reported no linkage between CHRNA7 and schizophrenia in their population samples (145-148).

Human CHRNA7 maps to chromosome 15 (15q13-14), has 10 exons, is estimated to be larger than 75 kb and has consensus sites for binding of transcription factors Sp1, AP-2, Egr-1 and CREB (149). A partial duplication (exons 5 - 10) of CHRNA7, along with five novel exons (D, D', C, B, A), maps approximately 1-Mb centromeric to CHRNA7 on chromosome 15. duplicated sequence (CHRFAM7A), which includes the novel exons, is expressed as mRNA in human brain, but the functional role of the product is unknown (149). Thirtythree molecular variants were identified in the coding region and intron/exon borders of CHRNA7 and its partial duplication by Gault et al. (150). Twenty-one of these variants were found in exons, but non-synonymous changes were rare and were not found to cosegregate with either the hippocampal auditory (P50) sensory processing deficit observed in schizophrenia or with schizophrenia itself (150). These data indicate that the α 7 receptor should function normally despite being reduced in density in many areas of schizophrenic brain. Analysis of different alleles of the dinucleotide repeat marker D15S165 in the 15q14 region (136) revealed that two of the alleles showed both familial transmission disequilibrium and population-wide association with schizophrenia. In addition, schizophrenic patients with one allele of the marker exhibited an earlier age of onset, greater numbers of hospitalizations and greater nicotine abuse than did patients with the second allele. Raux et al. (151) examined whether a molecular variant of CHRFAM7A, the -2 bp deletion of exon 6, was a risk factor for schizophrenia. They determined that having at least one of these molecular variants did not constitute a risk factor for the disease. However, this polymorphism did appear to be associated with abnormal

P50 sensory processing (ratio >0.05), although most of the effect was in non-schizophrenics.

A number of molecular variants have also been found in the core promoter of CHRNA7 (152, 153). Several of these molecular variants result in decreased $\alpha 7$ receptor expression in an in vitro expression system, suggesting that they might cause the decrease in α 7 receptor density observed in schizophrenic brain. The prevalence of these functional promoter variants was statistically greater in schizophrenic individuals, but they were also found in controls (150). The control subjects could be distributed into three groups (152, 153). The first group had P50 ratios < 0.20, the second group had P50 ratios between 0.20 and 0.50 while the third group had P50 ratios > 0.50. Thus, sensory processing appeared normal in the first two groups while the third group exhibited a deficit in sensory processing. Controls with no promoter variants were found in groups one and two, with the majority in group one. On the other hand, controls with promoter variants were distributed among all three groups, but group three, the group exhibiting abnormal P50 responses, consisted only of controls with a promoter variant. These data suggest a strong relationship between CHRNA7 promoter variants and decreased sensory processing (152, 153), similar to the findings of Raux et al. (151) for the CHRFAM7A gene.

The majority of high affinity nicotinic receptors are comprised primarily of $\alpha 4$ and $\beta 2$ subunits (154). The gene for the $\alpha 4$ subunit (CHRNA4) is assigned to human chromosome 20q13.2-13.3 and spans more than 17 kb while the gene for the β2 subunit (CHRNB2) is assigned to human chromosome 1q21 and spans only 14 kb (155). Little is known about the possible role of molecular variants in CHRNA4 and/or CHRNB2 in determining the schizophrenia-associated changes in high affinity nicotinic receptors. An initial investigation of this question was conducted by DeLuca et al. (155) who performed allele, haplotype and interaction analysis of the two genes using a family-based association approach in which each family had at least one schizophrenic individual. The data indicated that while molecular variants in one gene alone were not sufficient to confer susceptibility to schizophrenia, an interaction between three CHRNA4 molecular variants and one CHRNB2 molecular variant produced significant risk for schizophrenia.

4.3. Potential epigenetic modification of nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia

Schizophrenia-associated abnormalities in nicotinic receptors might occur secondary to changes in gene expression that result from alterations in epigenetic regulation. The two most well-studied mechanisms of epigenetic regulation are DNA methylation (covalent modification of cytosine) and post-translational modification of histones (methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, sumoylation) (156). These mechanisms work together (157, 158) to fine tune gene expression (159). If these, or other epigenetic mechanisms, are abnormal in schizophrenia, they might disrupt normal

expression of many genes, including those encoding nicotinic receptors (159-166).

Evidence is accumulating to suggest that the DNA methylation status of at least some genes is altered in schizophrenia. The promoter of the reelin (RELN) gene was found to be hypermethylated in samples of postmortem cortex from schizophrenics versus controls (167, 168). The cytosine-guanine dinucleotide (CpG) island of sex-determining region Y-box containing gene 10 (SOX 10) was also found to be highly methylated in postmortem brain tissue from schizophrenic patients relative to controls (169). In contrast, a trend towards lower levels of methylated deoxycytidine (mC) in DNA from peripheral leukocytes was observed in male schizophrenic patients compared to gender-matched controls (170). To date, nothing is known about the DNA methylation status of nicotinic receptor genes in schizophrenic patients or in controls. However, chronic administration (8 days) of nicotine bitartrate (1.5 mg/kg) had no effect on mRNA expression of DNAmethyltransferase 1 in the frontal cortex of mice (171), suggesting that cigarette smoking by schizophrenic patients may not influence this epigenetic mechanism.

4.4. Nicotinic receptor assembly and surface expression in schizophrenia

Nicotinic receptors could be altered in schizophrenia as a result of abnormal assembly processes. Little direct information is available about the assembly of nicotinic receptors in the brain. Nevertheless, insight has been gained by examining assembly of nicotinic receptors at the neuromuscular junction (NMJ). Briefly, the process involves 1) translation of mRNA for the subunits comprising the NMJ nicotinic receptor by ribosomes present on the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 2) folding and oligomerization of the subunits within the ER with the probable help of a variety of chaperone proteins and 3) exportation of properly assembled receptor pentamers from the ER to the Golgi complex, then to the cell surface. Subunit precursors that fail to properly fold and/or assemble are degraded within the ER (172-174). The assembly of nicotinic receptors is slow and inefficient (174). The slow kinetics of nicotinic receptor assembly may be due, in part, to the slowness of the interaction between the nicotinic receptor subunit precursors and the chaperone proteins (174).

The chaperone protein 14-3-3 η has recently been found to interact with the $\alpha 4$ nicotinic receptor subunit and appears to regulate the surface expression levels of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors (175). The gene encoding 14-3-3 η maps to chromosome 22q12, a region implicated in schizophrenia (reviewed in (176). A significant association between polymorphic variants of the 14-3-3 η gene and schizophrenia has been reported in two studies (177, 178), although not in others (179-181) while microarray analysis has revealed differential expression of 14-3-3 η between schizophrenics and controls (182, 183). If the function of the 14-3-3 η protein is abnormal in schizophrenia, the result could be an alteration in $\alpha 4\beta 2$

assembly and a decrease in the density of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors in schizophrenic brain.

Data has recently been reported to suggest that nicotine itself can act as a pharmacological chaperone with regard to assembly of α4β2 nAChRs. Administration of nicotine, other nicotinic agonists and even nicotinic antagonists to cultured cells (184-186) results in an upregulation of α4β2 nAChRs on the surface of the cells. The upregulation appeared to occur as a result of nicotine stabilizing α4β2 receptor subunit precursors within the ER that would otherwise be degraded, allowing a greater number of mature receptors to be moved to the cell surface. In contrast, the increased binding of ¹²⁵I-epibatidine to surface α4β2 nAChRs observed by Vallejo et al. (187) following nicotine administration to HEK cells did not appear to be due to changes in $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptor assembly, trafficking or cell-surface turnover. In fact, these authors found no change in the actual density of surface α4β2 receptors at all. Instead, the nicotine treatment appeared to alter the functional state of the receptors already on the surface such that they exhibited a slowing in desensitization and an increase in sensitivity when exposed to nicotine.

As stated previously, the majority of schizophrenic patients smoke very heavily. This high level of smoking could be an attempt to alter $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nAChR function by increasing receptor assembly and transport to the surface, by altering the functional state of receptors already present on the surface or both. The observation that the degree of upregulation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors in schizophrenic individuals for a given level of smoking is less than that seen in controls at the same level of smoking (127) clearly suggests that however nicotine is influencing the density of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors in brain, these mechanisms may be abnormal in schizophrenia.

4.5. Calcium regulation of nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia

Intracellular calcium levels can modulate voltage- and ligand-gated ion channels via calcium binding and calcium sensor proteins (188-190). The calcium sensor protein visinin-like protein-1 (VILIP-1) has recently been found to interact with $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors (191). Coexpression of VILIP-1 with recombinant $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors resulted in an upregulation (~2-fold) in the density of surface $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors and an increase (~3-fold) in the sensitivity of the receptors to acetylcholine. The VILIP-1induced changes in $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptor characteristics were hypothesized to result from an alteration in receptor turnover combined with stabilization of the receptor in a state with higher agonist sensitivity (191). Bernstein et al. (192) observed a differential pattern of VILIP-1 immunoreactivity in postmortem hippocampus from schizophrenic patients compared to controls, suggesting that the function of this calcium sensing protein is altered in schizophrenia. Disruption in the modulatory role of VILIP-1 could account to some extent for the altered function in α4β2 nicotinic receptors documented in schizophrenia.

5. POTENTIAL NEW THERAPIES

There are several approaches to improving nicotinic receptor-associated deficits in schizophrenia. The first method, smoking cigarettes, was found by the schizophrenia patients themselves. However, this method, as well as nicotine substitute approaches like the nicotine patch, suffer from the desensitization problem. They are effective transiently, but rapidly decrease in efficacy due to receptor desensitization which severely limits their usefulness. Nicotine substitutes that can be administered intermittently, such as the inhaler or nicotine lozenges or gum, offer a somewhat better approach in that the plasma levels of nicotine can be allowed to drop off, permitting receptor resensitization before the next administration. Although the nicotine substitutes do not subject the patient to the 200+ additional chemicals found in cigarette smoke, they still have the significant disadvantage of incurring nicotine dependence just like cigarettes (106). However, the nicotine substitute approaches are only minimally effective in reducing cigarette smoking in schizophrenic individuals (51, 193-197). The nominal effectiveness of nicotine transdermal patches and nasal spray on smoking cessation was not due to an inability of the patients to tolerate the treatments. Instead, these nicotine substitution approaches may not provide high enough doses of nicotine when used as normally prescribed.

Animal models of schizophrenia have provided useful insights for elaborating new treatment strategies. The nicotinic receptor subtypes associated with P50 sensory inhibition have been identified in rodent models of this paradigm. Quantification of P50 sensory inhibition requires measurement of two evoked responses, the response to the first stimulus, called the conditioned response and the response to the second stimulus, called the test response. Studies in rodents have identified the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ subtype as mediating the conditioned response (198). Increased activity at these receptors increases the amplitude of the conditioned response suggesting increased hippocampal excitability. The test response is mediated by α7 nicotinic receptors (199) that reside, at least in part, on hippocampal interneurons inhibitory (200,Cholinergic activation of interneuron α7 receptors by input from septal neurons (202) leads to GABA release (203, 204). Subsequent binding of GABA to GABA_B receptors present on pyramidal neurons (205) results in inhibition of a subpopulation of the pyramidal cells and a reduction in the amplitude of the test response (see (206) for circuit diagram). Thus, normal processing of sensory input by the hippocampus appears to require optimal levels of both α 7 and GABA_B receptors. A 50% reduction in α7 receptor density has been found in postmortem hippocampus from schizophrenic patients compared to controls (120). In addition, a recent study (207) reported that GABA_B receptor immunolabeling of hippocampal pyramidal cells was markedly reduced in postmortem tissue from schizophrenics relative to controls. schizophrenia-associated deficits in hippocampal sensory processing may result from a decrease in α 7 receptors, in GABA_B receptors or both.

Data from animal models of the sensory processing deficit observed in schizophrenia suggest that reduced levels of hippocampal α7 receptors may be the critical factor. DBA/2 mice exhibit a deficit in sensory inhibition as well as reduced numbers of hippocampal α7 receptors (208). Stimulation of the α7 receptors by exogenous agonists such as nicotine or DMXB-A, an agonist at the α 7 receptor (209-211), corrects the sensory processing abnormality present in this mouse strain (86, 212, 213). Correction of the sensory processing deficit observed in DBA/2 mice by administration of nicotinic agonists is reminiscent of the normalization of P50 response seen in schizophrenic patients after they are given nicotine gum or are allowed to smoke. The nicotine-mediated increase in α 7 receptor stimulation is hypothesized to produce increased GABA release. increased activation of GABA_B receptors and enhanced inhibition of response to repetitive sensory stimulation. Thus, development of drugs that selectively target the α7 receptor might prove useful in ameliorating the flooding commonly experience schizophrenic patients.

The improvement seen in rodent models with the selective α 7 agonist DMXB-A (213-215) led to the first clinical study of this drug (216). In the recently published Phase I clinical study, DMXB-A was administered acutely to non-smoking schizophrenia patients and both P50 sensory inhibition and cognitive functioning were assessed. Other than nicotine, this is the first study of direct nicotinic agonist effects on P50 sensory inhibition and cognition in humans to be published. This work showed that selective stimulation of $\alpha 7$ nicotinic receptors produced concurrent improvements in both neurocognitive measures and P50 sensory inhibition in a population of non-smoking schizophrenia patients who were stable on their antipsychotic medication (216). These data suggest that stimulation of nicotinic receptors, specifically the α 7 subtype, produces improvement in two deficits that are not well treated, even in patients that are stably maintained on antipsychotic medication. It is noteworthy that none of the patients in this study were taking clozapine, an atypical antipsychotic, which has been shown to produce improvements in both of these measures without additional nicotinic receptor stimulation (34, 92, 93). The results of the initial DMXB-A study lend credence to the "smoking as self-medication for unaddressed symptom" theory. In this light, it is interesting to note that schizophrenia patients are exceptionally poor at smoking cessation (39, 49-51), but patients on clozapine, which increases release of acetylcholine, spontaneously decrease their smoking behavior (93).

The success of DMXB-A has stimulated interest by pharmaceutical companies to develop additional $\alpha 7$ agonists as potential therapeutic agents for the treatment of schizophrenia. Rogers and colleagues recently published pre-clinical data on a putative therapeutic for the treatment of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia (217), but no clinical trials have been published. Other companies are in pursuit of similar compounds.

An alternate approach to stimulation of nicotinic receptors with a direct agonist is indirect stimulation of acetylcholine release. Recent studies have utilized 5-HT₃ (serotonin receptor 3) antagonists such as ondansetron and tropisetron in schizophrenia patients and rodent models of P50 sensory inhibition deficits. 5-HT₃ receptors tonically inhibit acetylcholine release (218), thus blockade of these receptors induces increased release of acetylcholine. Ondansetron administration schizophrenia patients stable on antipsychotic medication produced improvement in P50 sensory inhibition (219) and in some cognitive deficits (220). The 5-HT₃ antagonist tropisetron also acts as a direct α 7 nicotinic agonist (221, 222). When administered to schizophrenia patients (223) or DBA/2 mice (224), improvement in P50 sensory inhibition was observed. Thus, indirect agonists which can increase acetylcholine release are another potential therapeutic approach.

Very recently, positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) of $\alpha 7$ nicotinic receptors have gained interest as potential therapeutics. These compounds alter the channel open time and/or the desensitization/resensitization dynamics of the $\alpha 7$ receptor. In a seminal paper in the field, Hurst and colleagues demonstrated that a PAM for $\alpha 7$ nicotinic receptors could modify cholinergic neurotransmission *in vivo* (225). This compound increased channel open time, increased acetylcholine-evoked GABA release and improved P50 sensory inhibition in a rodent model. This work suggests that PAMs, which do not directly stimulate the receptor but instead increase efficacy of endogenously released acetylcholine, may represent a ripe target for new drug development.

6. PERSPECTIVE

The information discussed above indicates that:

- 1) Schizophrenia is a relatively common disease that exacts a prohibitive cost both to the individual and to society. The disease is characterized by positive, negative and cognitive symptoms that are inadequately treated by the currently available typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs. Schizophrenia exhibits a high degree of heritability and is thought to result from small abnormalities in many genes coupled with environmental influences.
- 2) Schizophrenic individuals exhibit excessive levels of cigarette smoking which transiently improves some of the cognitive and sensory processing deficits characteristic of the disease. This extreme smoking behavior suggested that nicotinic receptors might be abnormal in schizophrenics, since nicotine is thought to be the major active component of cigarette smoke.
- 3) Studies evaluating this hypothesis concluded that the $\alpha 7$ subtype of nicotinic receptor is decreased in many regions of postmortem schizophrenic brain. The data is less clear regarding the density of the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ subtype, although these receptors exhibit abnormalities in function.

4) The schizophrenia-associated alterations in nicotinic receptor levels and function may arise from abnormalities in the genes encoding the nicotinic receptors, from abnormalities in epigenetic regulation of the genes encoding the nicotinic receptors, from abnormalities in nicotinic receptor assembly, from abnormalities in molecules regulating calcium signaling and/or from abnormalities in mechanism not yet examined.

The discovery of abnormal nicotinic receptor processes in schizophrenia has led to the development of new pharmaceuticals directed at nicotinic receptor subtypes. Importantly, these new drugs appear to reduce not only the sensory processing deficits observed in schizophrenia, but also the cognitive deficits. As the degree of cognitive impairment is a crucial predictor of the overall outcome for schizophrenic patients, these new therapies may herald a significant breakthrough in the treatment of this devastating disease.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Department of Veterans Affairs Merit Reviews to CEA and KES, by NARSAD Independent Investigator Award to KES and by a CONTE grant (MH068582) to Robert Freedman.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Jablensky, A.: The 100-year epidemiology of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 28, 111-25 (1997)
- 2. Waterworth, D. M., A. S. Bassett & L. M. Brzustowicz: Recent advances in the genetics of schizophrenia. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 59, 331-348 (2002)
- 3. Mueser, K. T. & S. R. McGurk: Schizophrenia. *Lancet*, 363, 2063-72 (2004)
- 4. Austin, J.: Schizophrenia: an update and review. *J Genet Couns*, 14, 329-40 (2005)
- 5. Book, J. A., L. Wetterberg & K. Modrzewska: Schizophrenia in a North Swedish geographical isolate, 1900--1977. Epidemiology, genetics and biochemistry. *Clin Genet*, 14, 373-94 (1978)
- 6. Hovatta, I., J. D. Terwilliger, D. Lichtermann, T. Makikyro, J. Suvisaari, L. Peltonen & J. Lonnqvist: Schizophrenia in the genetic isolate of Finland. *Am J Med Genet*, 74, 353-60 (1997)
- 7. Myles-Worsley, M., H. Coon, J. Tiobech, J. Collier, P. Dale, P. Wender, F. Reimherr, A. Polloi & W. Byerley: Genetic epidemiological study of schizophrenia in Palau, Micronesia: prevalence and familiality. *Am J Med Genet*, 88, 4-10 (1999)
- 8. Riecher-Rossler, A. & H. Hafner: Gender aspects in schizophrenia: bridging the border between social and biological psychiatry. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl*58-62 (2000)

- 9. Halbreich, U. & L. S. Kahn: Hormonal aspects of schizophrenias: an overview. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 28 Suppl 2, 1-16 (2003)
- 10. Jablensky, A., N. Sartorius, G. Ernberg, M. Anker, A. Korten, J. E. Cooper, R. Day & A. Bertelsen: Schizophrenia: manifestations, incidence and course in different cultures. A World Health Organization tencountry study. *Psychol Med Monogr Suppl*, 20, 1-97 (1992)
- 11. Hafner, H.: Gender differences in schizophrenia. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 28 Suppl 2, 17-54 (2003)
- 12. Kirkbride, J. B., P. Fearon, C. Morgan, P. Dazzan, K. Morgan, J. Tarrant, T. Lloyd, J. Holloway, G. Hutchinson, J. P. Leff, R. M. Mallett, G. L. Harrison, R. M. Murray & P. B. Jones: Heterogeneity in incidence rates of schizophrenia and other psychotic syndromes: findings from the 3-center AeSOP study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 63, 250-8 (2006)
- 13. Seeman, M. V.: Gender differences in the prescribing of antipsychotic drugs. *Am J Psychiatry*, 161, 1324-33 (2004)
- 14. Knapp, M.: Schizophrenia costs and treatment costeffectiveness. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl*15-8 (2000)
- 15. Rossler, W., H. J. Salize, J. van Os & A. Riecher-Rossler: Size of burden of schizophrenia and psychotic disorders. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 15, 399-409 (2005)
- 16. Wu, E. Q., H. G. Birnbaum, L. Shi, D. E. Ball, R. C. Kessler, M. Moulis & J. Aggarwal: The economic burden of schizophrenia in the United States in 2002. *Value in Health*, 8, A207-A207 (2005)
- 17. Maier, W., A. Zobel & M. Rietschel: Genetics of schizophrenia and affective disorders. *Pharmacopsychiatry*, 36 Suppl 3, S195-202 (2003)
- 18. Limosin, F., F. Rouillon, C. Payan, J. M. Cohen & N. Strub: Prenatal exposure to influenza as a risk factor for adult schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 107, 331-5 (2003)
- 19. Brown, A. S., M. D. Begg, S. Gravenstein, C. A. Schaefer, R. J. Wyatt, M. Bresnahan, V. P. Babulas & E. S. Susser: Serologic evidence of prenatal influenza in the etiology of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 61, 774-80 (2004)
- 20. Cannon, T. D., P. M. Thompson, T. G. van Erp, A. W. Toga, V. P. Poutanen, M. Huttunen, J. Lonnqvist, C. G. Standerskjold-Nordenstam, K. L. Narr, M. Khaledy, C. I. Zoumalan, R. Dail & J. Kaprio: Cortex mapping reveals regionally specific patterns of genetic and disease-specific gray-matter deficits in twins discordant for schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 3228-33 (2002)

- 21. Torrey, E. F., J. Miller, R. Rawlings & R. H. Yolken: Seasonality of births in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a review of the literature. *Schizophr Res*, 28, 1-38 (1997)
- 22. Chambers, R. A., J. H. Krystal & D. W. Self: A neurobiological basis for substance abuse comorbidity in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*, 50, 71-83 (2001)
- 23. Cantor-Graae, E. & J. P. Selten: Schizophrenia and migration: a meta-analysis and review. *Am J Psychiatry*, 162, 12-24 (2005)
- 24. Leao, T. S., J. Sundquist, G. Frank, L. M. Johansson, S. E. Johansson & K. Sundquist: Incidence of schizophrenia or other psychoses in first- and second-generation immigrants: a national cohort study. *J Nerv Ment Dis*, 194, 27-33 (2006)
- 25. Krabbendam, L. & J. van Os: Schizophrenia and urbanicity: a major environmental influence-conditional on genetic risk. *Schizophr Bull*, 31, 795-9 (2005)
- 26. Gispen-de Wied, C. C.: Stress in schizophrenia: an integrative view. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 405, 375-84 (2000)
- 27. Dinan, T. G.: Stress: the shared common component in major mental illnesses. *Eur Psychiatry*, 20 Suppl 3, S326-8 (2005)
- 28. Thaker, G. K. & W. T. Carpenter, Jr.: Advances in schizophrenia. *Nat Med*, 7, 667-71 (2001)
- 29. Gelder, M., Mayou,R.,Geddes,J.: Psychiatry. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2005)
- 30. Bilder, R. M., G. Reiter, J. Bates, T. Lencz, P. Szeszko, R. S. Goldman, D. Robinson, J. A. Lieberman & J. M. Kane: Cognitive development in schizophrenia: followback from the first episode. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 28, 270-82 (2006)
- 31. Kremen, W. S., M. J. Lyons, C. Boake, H. Xian, K. C. Jacobson, B. Waterman, S. A. Eisen, J. Goldberg, S. V. Faraone & M. T. Tsuang: A discordant twin study of premorbid cognitive ability in schizophrenia. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 28, 208-24 (2006)
- 32. Green, M.: Schizophrenia from a Neurocognitive Perspective. Probing the Impenetrable Darkness. Allyn and Bacon, Boston (1998)
- 33. Kurtz, M. M.: Neurocognitive impairment across the lifespan in schizophrenia: an update. *Schizophr Res*, 74, 15-26 (2005)
- 34. Hofer, A., S. Baumgartner, T. Bodner, M. Edlinger, M. Hummer, G. Kemmler, M. A. Rettenbacher & W. W. Fleischhacker: Patient outcomes in schizophrenia II: the impact of cognition. *Eur Psychiatry*, 20, 395-402 (2005)
- 35. Davidson, M., A. Reichenberg, J. Rabinowitz, M. Weiser, Z. Kaplan & M. Mark: Behavioral and intellectual

- markers for schizophrenia in apparently healthy male adolescents. Am J Psychiatry, 156, 1328-35 (1999)
- 36. Bowie, C. R. & P. D. Harvey: Cognition in schizophrenia: impairments, determinants, and functional importance. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 28, 613-33, 626 (2005)
- 37. Singh, A., A. Potter & P. Newhouse: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor system and neuropsychiatric disorders. *IDrugs*, 7, 1096-103 (2004)
- 38. Kuehn, B. M.: Link between smoking and mental illness may lead to treatments. *Jama*, 295, 483-4 (2006)
- 39. Dalack, G. W., D. J. Healy & J. H. Meador-Woodruff: Nicotine dependence in schizophrenia: clinical phenomena and laboratory findings. *Am J Psychiatry*, 155, 1490-501 (1998)
- 40. Gopalaswamy, A. K. & R. Morgan: Smoking in chronic schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry*, 149, 523 (1986)
- 41. Williams, J. M. & D. Ziedonis: Addressing tobacco among individuals with a mental illness or an addiction. *Addictive Behaviors*, 29, 1067-1083 (2004)
- 42. Lohr, J. B. & K. Flynn: Smoking and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 8, 93-102 (1992)
- 43. Masterson, E. & B. O'Shea: Smoking and malignancy in schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry*, 145, 429-32 (1984)
- 44. Greenman, M. & T. McClellan: Negative effects of a smoking ban on an inpatient psychiatry service. *Hosp Commun Psychiatry*, 42, 408-412 (1991)
- 45. Aguilar, M. C., M. Gurpegui, F. J. Diaz & J. de Leon: Nicotine dependence and symptoms in schizophrenia: naturalistic study of complex interactions. *Br J Psychiatry*, 186, 215-21 (2005)
- 46. Spring, B., R. Pingitore & D. E. McChargue: Reward value of cigarette smoking for comparably heavy smoking schizophrenic, depressed, and nonpatient smokers. *Am J Psychiatry*, 160, 316-22 (2003)
- 47. Grant, B., D. Hasin, S. Chou, F. Stinson & D. Dawson: Nicotine dependence and psychiatric disorders in the United States. *Arch Gen Psychiat* 61, 1107-1122 (2004)
- 48. Addington, J., N. el-Guebaly, D. Addington & D. Hodgins: Readiness to stop smoking in schizophrenia. *Can J Psychiatry*, 42, 49-52 (1997)
- 49. Ziedonis, D. M. & T. P. George: Schizophrenia and nicotine use: report of a pilot smoking cessation program and review of neurobiological and clinical issues. *Schizophr Bull*, 23, 247-54 (1997)
- 50. Glassman, A. H., L. S. Covey, G. W. Dalack, F. Stetner, S. K. Rivelli, J. Fleiss & T. B. Cooper: Smoking

- cessation, clonidine, and vulnerability to nicotine among dependent smokers. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 54, 670-9 (1993)
- 51. George, T. P., D. M. Ziedonis, A. Feingold, W. T. Pepper, C. A. Satterburg, J. Winkel, B. J. Rounsaville & T. R. Kosten: Nicotine transdermal patch and atypical antipsychotic medications for smoking cessation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157, 1835-42 (2000)
- 52. Kelly, C. & R. McCreadie: Cigarette smoking and schziophrenia. *Adv Psychiatr Treat*, 6, 327-331 (2000)
- 53. Olincy, A., D. A. Young & R. Freedman: Increased levels of the nicotine metabolite cotinine in schizophrenic smokers compared to other smokers. *Biol Psychiatry*, 42, 1-5 (1997)
- 54. Strand, J. E. & H. Nyback: Tobacco use in schizophrenia: a study of cotinine concentrations in the saliva of patients and controls. *Eur Psychiatry*, 20, 50-4 (2005)
- 55. Kumari, V. & P. Postma: Nicotine use in schizophrenia: the self medication hypotheses. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 29, 1021-34 (2005)
- 56. de Leon, J., J. Tracy, E. McCann, A. McGrory & F. J. Diaz: Schizophrenia and tobacco smoking: a replication study in another US psychiatric hospital. *Schizophr Res*, 56, 55-65 (2002)
- 57. Kelly, C. & R. G. McCreadie: Smoking habits, current symptoms, and premorbid characteristics of schizophrenic patients in Nithsdale, Scotland. *Am J Psychiatry*, 156, 1751-7 (1999)
- 58. Weiser, M., A. Reichenberg, I. Grotto, R. Yasvitzky, J. Rabinowitz, G. Lubin, D. Nahon, H. Y. Knobler & M. Davidson: Higher rates of cigarette smoking in male adolescents before the onset of Schizophrenia: A historical-prospective cohort study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 1219-1223 (2004)
- 59. Weinberger, D. R.: Implications of Normal Brain-Development for the Pathogenesis of Schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44, 660-669 (1987)
- 60. Weinberger, D. R.: From Neuropathology to Neurodevelopment. *Lancet*, 346, 552-557 (1995)
- 61. Fish, B.: Neurobiologic antecedents of schizophrenia in children. Evidence for an inherited, congenital neurointegrative defect. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 34, 1297-313 (1977)
- 62. Riala, K., H. Hakko, M. Isohanni, J. Jokelainen, M. Weiser & P. Rasanen: Poor premorbid school performance is associated with later cigarette smoking among schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Res*, 137, 137-41 (2005)
- 63. Milhailescu, S. & R. Drucker-Colin: Nicotine, brain nicotinic receptors, and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Arch Med Res*, 31, 131-144 (2000)

- 64. Horacek, J., V. Bubenikova-Valesova, M. Kopecek, T. Palenicek, C. Dockery, P. Mohr & C. Hoschl: Mechanism of action of atypical antipsychotic drugs and the neurobiology of schizophrenia. *CNS Drugs*, 20, 389-409 (2006)
- 65. Hughes, J., H. D, M. J & D. L.: Prevalence of smoking among psychiatric outpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 143, 993-997 (1986)
- 66. Stip, E., S. Chouinard & L. J. Boulay: On the trail of a cognitive enhancer for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 29, 219-32 (2005)
- 67. Freedman, R., L. E. Adler, P. Bickford, W. Byerley, H. Coon, C. M. Cullum, J. M. Griffith, J. G. Harris, S. Leonard, C. Miller, M. Mylesworsley, H. T. Nagamoto, G. Rose & M. Waldo: Schizophrenia and Nicotinic Receptors. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 2, 179-192 (1994)
- 68. Harris, J. G., S. Kongs, D. Allensworth, L. Martin, J. Tregellas, B. Sullivan, G. Zerbe & R. Freedman: Effects of nicotine on cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 1378-85 (2004)
- 69. Sacco, K. A., A. Termine, A. Seyal, M. M. Dudas, J. C. Vessicchio, S. Krishnan-Sarin, P. I. Jatlow, B. E. Wexler & T. P. George: Effects of cigarette smoking on spatial working memory and attentional deficits in schizophrenia: involvement of nicotinic receptor mechanisms. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 62, 649-59 (2005)
- 70. Kirrane, R. M., V. Mitropoulou, M. Nunn, J. Silverman & L. J. Siever: Physostigmine and cognition in schizotypal personality disorder. *Schizophr Res*, 48, 1-5 (2001)
- 71. Harvey, P. D., M. F. Green, R. S. Keefe & D. I. Velligan: Cognitive functioning in schizophrenia: a consensus statement on its role in the definition and evaluation of effective treatments for the illness. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 65, 361-72 (2004)
- 72. Ichikawa, J., J. Dai & H. Meltzer: 5-HT (1A) and 5-HT (2A) receptors minimally contribute to clozapine-induced acetylcholine release in rat medial prefrontal cortex. *Brain Res*, 939, 34-42 (2002)
- 73. Shirazi-Southall, S., D. E. Rodriguez & G. G. Nomikos: Effects of typical and atypical antipsychotics and receptor selective compounds on acetylcholine efflux in the hippocampus of the rat. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 26, 583-94 (2002)
- 74. Braff, D. L., M. A. Geyer & N. R. Swerdlow: Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle: normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 156, 234-58 (2001)
- 75. Braff, D. L. & G. A. Light: The use of neurophysiological endophenotypes to understand the genetic basis of schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 7, 125-35 (2005)

- 76. Hamm, A. O., A. I. Weike & H. T. Schupp: The effect of neuroleptic medication on prepulse inhibition in schizophrenia patients: current status and future issues. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 156, 259-65 (2001)
- 77. Kumari, V. & T. Sharma: Effects of typical and atypical antipsychotics on prepulse inhibition in schizophrenia: a critical evaluation of current evidence and directions for future research. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 162, 97-101 (2002)
- 78. Holzman, P. S.: Eye movements and the search for the essence of schizophrenia. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, 31, 350-6 (2000)
- 79. Kelley, M. P. & P. Bakan: Eye tracking in normals: spem asymmetries and association with schizotypy. *Int J Neurosci*, 98, 27-81 (1999)
- 80. Lee, K. H. & L. M. Williams: Eye movement dysfunction as a biological marker of risk for schizophrenia. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 34 S91-100 (2000)
- 81. Baker, N., L. E. Adler, R. D. Franks, M. Waldo, S. Berry, H. Nagamoto, A. Muckle & R. Freedman: Neurophysiological assessment of sensory gating in psychiatric inpatients: comparison between schizophrenia and other diagnoses. *Biol Psychiatry*, 22, 603-17 (1987)
- 82. Boutros, N. N., A. Belger, D. Campbell, C. D'Souza & J. Krystal: Comparison of four components of sensory gating in schizophrenia and normal subjects: a preliminary report. *Psychiatry Res*, 88, 119-30 (1999)
- 83. Braff, D. L.: Information processing and attention dysfunctions in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*, 19, 233-59 (1993)
- 84. Clementz, B. A., M. A. Geyer & D. L. Braff: Poor P50 suppression among schizophrenia patients and their first-degree biological relatives. *Am J Psychiatry*, 155, 1691-4 (1998)
- 85. Freedman, R., L. E. Adler, G. A. Gerhardt, M. Waldo, N. Baker, G. M. Rose, C. Drebing, H. Nagamoto, P. Bickford-Wimer & R. Franks: Neurobiological studies of sensory gating in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*, 13, 669-78 (1987)
- 86. Simosky, J. K., K. E. Stevens & R. Freedman: Nicotinic agonists and psychosis. *Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord*, 1, 149-62 (2002)
- 87. Venables, P. H.: Input Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. *Prog Exp Pers Res*, 72, 1-47 (1964)
- 88. Venables, P. H.: Hippocampal function and schizophrenia. Experimental psychological evidence. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 658, 111-27 (1992)

- 89. Erwin, R. J., B. I. Turetsky, P. Moberg, R. C. Gur & R. E. Gur: P50 abnormalities in schizophrenia: relationship to clinical and neuropsychological indices of attention. *Schizophr Res*, 33, 157-67 (1998)
- 90. Adler, L. E., G. A. Gerhardt, R. Franks, N. Baker, H. Nagamoto, C. Drebing & R. Freedman: Sensory physiology and catecholamines in schizophrenia and mania. *Psychiatry Res*, 31, 297-309 (1990)
- 91. Freedman, R., L. E. Adler, M. C. Waldo, E. Pachtman & R. D. Franks: Neurophysiological evidence for a defect in inhibitory pathways in schizophrenia: comparison of medicated and drug-free patients. *Biol Psychiatry*, 18, 537-51 (1983)
- 92. Nagamoto, H. T., L. E. Adler, R. A. Hea, J. M. Griffith, K. A. McRae & R. Freedman: Gating of auditory P50 in schizophrenics: unique effects of clozapine. *Biol Psychiatry*, 40, 181-8 (1996)
- 93. Nagamoto, H. T., L. E. Adler, K. A. McRae, P. Huettl, E. Cawthra, G. Gerhardt, R. Hea & J. Griffith: Auditory P50 in schizophrenics on clozapine: improved gating parallels clinical improvement and changes in plasma 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol. *Neuropsychobiology*, 39, 10-7 (1999)
- 94. Adler, L. E., A. Olincy, E. M. Cawthra, K. A. McRae, J. G. Harris, H. T. Nagamoto, M. C. Waldo, M. H. Hall, A. Bowles, L. Woodward, R. G. Ross & R. Freedman: Varied effects of atypical neuroleptics on P50 auditory gating in schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 161, 1822-8 (2004)
- 95. Arango, C., A. Summerfelt & R. W. Buchanan: Olanzapine effects on auditory sensory gating in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*, 160, 2066-8 (2003)
- 96. Light, G. A., M. A. Geyer, B. A. Clementz, K. S. Cadenhead & D. L. Braff: Normal P50 suppression in schizophrenia patients treated with atypical antipsychotic medications. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157, 767-71 (2000)
- 97. Adler, L. E., L. J. Hoffer, J. Griffith, M. C. Waldo & R. Freedman: Normalization by nicotine of deficient auditory sensory gating in the relatives of schizophrenics. *Biol Psychiatry*, 32, 607-16 (1992)
- 98. Adler, L. E., L. D. Hoffer, A. Wiser & R. Freedman: Normalization of auditory physiology by cigarette smoking in schizophrenic patients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 150, 1856-61 (1993)
- 99. Leonard, S., L. E. Adler, K. Benhammou, R. Berger, C. R. Breese, C. Drebing, J. Gault, M. J. Lee, J. Logel, A. Olincy, R. G. Ross, K. Stevens, B. Sullivan, R. Vianzon, D. E. Virnich, M. Waldo, K. Walton & R. Freedman: Smoking and mental illness. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 70, 561-70 (2001)

- 100. Ragozzino, D., B. Barabino, S. Fucile & F. Eusebi: Ca2+ permeability of mouse and chick nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in transiently transfected human cells. *J Physiol*, 507 (Pt 3), 749-57 (1998)
- 101. Rogers, M. & J. A. Dani: Comparison of quantitative calcium flux through NMDA, ATP, and ACh receptor channels. *Biophys J*, 68, 501-6 (1995)
- 102. Tsuneki, H., R. Klink, C. Lena, H. Korn & J. P. Changeux: Calcium mobilization elicited by two types of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in mouse substantia nigra pars compacta. *Eur J Neurosci*, 12, 2475-85 (2000)
- 103. Vernino, S., M. Amador, C. W. Luetje, J. Patrick & J. A. Dani: Calcium modulation and high calcium permeability of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuron*, 8, 127-34 (1992)
- 104. Elliott, K. J., S. B. Ellis, K. J. Berckhan, A. Urrutia, L. E. Chavez-Noriega, E. C. Johnson, G. Velicelebi & M. M. Harpold: Comparative structure of human neuronal alpha 2-alpha 7 and beta 2-beta 4 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits and functional expression of the alpha 2, alpha 3, alpha 4, alpha 7, beta 2, and beta 4 subunits. *J Mol Neurosci*, 7, 217-28 (1996)
- 105. Gotti, C., D. Fornasari & F. Clementi: Human neuronal nicotinic receptors. *Prog Neurobiol*, 53, 199-237 (1997)
- 106. Leonard, S. & D. Bertrand: Neuronal nicotinic receptors: from structure to function. *Nicotine Tob Res*, 3, 203-23 (2001)
- 107. Lukas, R. J. & M. Bencherif: Heterogeneity and regulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 34, 25-131 (1992)
- 108. Gerzanich, V., R. Anand & J. Lindstrom: Homomers of alpha 8 and alpha 7 subunits of nicotinic receptors exhibit similar channel but contrasting binding site properties. *Mol Pharmacol*, 45, 212-20 (1994)
- 109. Kuryatov, A., F. Olale, J. Cooper, C. Choi & J. Lindstrom: Human alpha6 AChR subtypes: subunit composition, assembly, and pharmacological responses. *Neuropharmacology*, 39, 2570-90 (2000)
- 110. Luetje, C. W. & J. Patrick: Both alpha- and betasubunits contribute to the agonist sensitivity of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *J Neurosci*, 11, 837-45 (1991)
- 111. Jensen, A. A., B. Frolund, T. Liljefors & P. Krogsgaard-Larsen: Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: structural revelations, target identifications, and therapeutic inspirations. *J Med Chem*, 48, 4705-45 (2005)
- 112. Ripoll, N., M. Bronnec & M. Bourin: Nicotinic receptors and schizophrenia. *Curr Med Res Opin*, 20, 1057-74 (2004)

- 113. Mukherjee, S., S. P. Mahadik, A. Korenovsky, H. Laev, D. B. Schnur & R. Reddy: Serum antibodies to nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res*, 12, 131-6 (1994)
- 114. Mufson, E. J., S. D. Ginsberg, M. D. Ikonomovic & S. T. DeKosky: Human cholinergic basal forebrain: chemoanatomy and neurologic dysfunction. *J Chem Neuroanat*, 26, 233-42 (2003)
- 115. el-Mallakh, R. S., D. G. Kirch, R. Shelton, K. J. Fan, G. Pezeshkpour, S. Kanhouwa, R. J. Wyatt & J. E. Kleinman: The nucleus basalis of Meynert, senile plaques, and intellectual impairment in schizophrenia. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 3, 383-6 (1991)
- 116. Haroutunian, V., M. Davidson, P. D. Kanof, D. P. Perl, P. Powchik, M. Losonczy, J. McCrystal, D. P. Purohit, L. M. Bierer & K. L. Davis: Cortical cholinergic markers in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 12, 137-44 (1994)
- 117. Powchik, P., M. Davidson, V. Haroutunian, S. M. Gabriel, D. P. Purohit, D. P. Perl, P. D. Harvey & K. L. Davis: Postmortem studies in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*, 24, 325-41 (1998)
- 118. Karson, C. N., M. F. Casanova, J. E. Kleinman & W. S. Griffin: Choline acetyltransferase in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*, 150, 454-9 (1993)
- 119. Garcia-Rill, E., J. A. Biedermann, T. Chambers, R. D. Skinner, R. E. Mrak, M. Husain & C. N. Karson: Mesopontine neurons in schizophrenia. *Neuroscience*, 66, 321-35 (1995)
- 120. Freedman, R., M. Hall, L. E. Adler & S. Leonard: Evidence in postmortem brain tissue for decreased numbers of hippocampal nicotinic receptors in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*, 38, 22-33 (1995)
- 121. Court, J., D. Spurden, S. Lloyd, I. McKeith, C. Ballard, N. Cairns, R. Kerwin, R. Perry & E. Perry: Neuronal nicotinic receptors in dementia with Lewy bodies and schizophrenia: alpha-bungarotoxin and nicotine binding in the thalamus. *J Neurochem*, 73, 1590-7 (1999)
- 122. Marutle, A., X. Zhang, J. Court, M. Piggott, M. Johnson, R. Perry, E. Perry & A. Nordberg: Laminar distribution of nicotinic receptor subtypes in cortical regions in schizophrenia. *J Chem Neuroanat*, 22, 115-26 (2001)
- 123. Guan, Z. Z., X. Zhang, K. Blennow & A. Nordberg: Decreased protein level of nicotinic receptor alpha7 subunit in the frontal cortex from schizophrenic brain. *Neuroreport*, 10, 1779-82 (1999)
- 124. Martin-Ruiz, C. M., V. H. Haroutunian, P. Long, A. H. Young, K. L. Davis, E. K. Perry & J. A. Court: Dementia rating and nicotinic receptor expression in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*, 54, 1222-33 (2003)

- 125. Jones, I. W. & S. Wonnacott: Why doesn't nicotinic ACh receptor immunoreactivity knock out? *Trends Neurosci*, 28, 343-5 (2005)
- 126. Hemby, S. E., S. D. Ginsberg, B. Brunk, S. E. Arnold, J. Q. Trojanowski & J. H. Eberwine: Gene expression profile for schizophrenia: discrete neuron transcription patterns in the entorhinal cortex. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 59, 631-40 (2002)
- 127. Breese, C. R., M. J. Lee, C. E. Adams, B. Sullivan, J. Logel, K. M. Gillen, M. J. Marks, A. C. Collins & S. Leonard: Abnormal regulation of high affinity nicotinic receptors in subjects with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23, 351-64 (2000)
- 128. Court, J. A., M. A. Piggott, S. Lloyd, N. Cookson, C. G. Ballard, I. G. McKeith, R. H. Perry & E. K. Perry: Nicotine binding in human striatum: elevation in schizophrenia and reductions in dementia with Lewy bodies, Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease and in relation to neuroleptic medication. *Neuroscience*, 98, 79-87 (2000)
- 129. Durany, N., R. Zochling, K. W. Boissl, W. Paulus, G. Ransmayr, T. Tatschner, W. Danielczyk, K. Jellinger, J. Deckert & P. Riederer: Human post-mortem striatal alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor density in schizophrenia and Parkinson's syndrome. *Neurosci Lett*, 287, 109-12 (2000)
- 130. Moser, N., A. Wevers, M. Plomann, U. Roth, J. Dramiga, U. Schuetz, J. Lindstrom, A. Maelicke, C. Koehler, L. Marubio, U. Maskos, E. Lain & H. Schroeder: Transmitter receptor-deficient mice as tools in specificity testing of receptor antibodies. *Society for Neuroscience*, 624.17 (2004).
- 131. Breese, C. R., M. J. Marks, J. Logel, C. E. Adams, B. Sullivan, A. C. Collins & S. Leonard: Effect of smoking history on [3H]nicotine binding in human postmortem brain. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 282, 7-13 (1997)
- 132. Lee, M. J., C. R. Breese, M. L. Strook & S. Leonard: The effect of nicotine and haloperidol co-treatment on nicotinic receptor levels in the rat brain. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 86, 115-24 (2001)
- 133. Freedman, R., H. Coon, M. Myles-Worsley, A. Orr-Urtreger, A. Olincy, A. Davis, M. Polymeropoulos, J. Holik, J. Hopkins, M. Hoff, J. Rosenthal, M. C. Waldo, F. Reimherr, P. Wender, J. Yaw, D. A. Young, C. R. Breese, C. Adams, D. Patterson, L. E. Adler, L. Kruglyak, S. Leonard & W. Byerley: Linkage of a neurophysiological deficit in schizophrenia to a chromosome 15 locus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 587-92 (1997)
- 134. Leonard, S., J. Gault, T. Moore, J. Hopkins, M. Robinson, A. Olincy, L. E. Adler, C. R. Cloninger, C. A. Kaufmann, M. T. Tsuang, S. V. Faraone, D. Malaspina, D. M. Svrakic & R. Freedman: Further investigation of a chromosome 15 locus in schizophrenia: analysis of affected

- sibpairs from the NIMH Genetics Initiative. Am J Med Genet, 81, 308-12 (1998)
- 135. Kaufman, C. A., B. Suarez, D. Malaspina, J. Pepple, D. Svrakic, P. D. Markel, J. Meyer, C. T. Zambuto, K. Schmitt, R. C. Matise, J. M. H. Friedmann, C. Hampe, H. Lee, D. Shore, D. Wynne, S. V. Faraone, M. T. Tsuang & C. R. Cloninger: NIMH Genetics Initiative Millennium Schizophrenia Consortium: Linkage analysis of African-American Pedigrees. *Am. J. Med. Gen. (Neuropsych. Gen.)* 81, 282-289 (1998)
- 136. Freedman, R., S. Leonard, J. M. Gault, J. Hopkins, C. R. Cloninger, C. A. Kaufmann, M. T. Tsuang, S. V. Farone, D. Malaspina, D. M. Svrakic, A. Sanders & P. Gejman: Linkage disequilibrium for schizophrenia at the chromosome 15q13-14 locus of the alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene (CHRNA7). *Am J Med Genet*, 105, 20-2 (2001)
- 137. Freedman, R. & S. S. Leonard: Chromosome 15q linkage for schizophrenia in the NIMH genetics initiative families. *Schizophrenia Research*, 49, 70-70 (2001)
- 138. Stober, G., K. Saar, F. Ruschendorf, J. Meyer, G. Nurnberg, S. Jatzke, E. Franzek, A. Reis, K. P. Lesch, T. F. Wienker & H. Beckmann: Splitting schizophrenia: periodic catatonia-susceptibility locus on chromosome 15q15. *Am J Hum Genet*, 67, 1201-7 (2000)
- 139. Stassen, H. H., R. Bridler, S. Hagele, M. Hergersberg, B. Mehmann, A. Schinzel, M. Weisbrod & C. Scharfetter: Schizophrenia and smoking: evidence for a common neurobiological basis? *Am J Med Genet*, 96, 173-7 (2000)
- 140. Riley, B. P., A. Makoff, M. Mogudi-Carter, T. Jenkins, R. Williamson, D. Collier & R. Murray: Haplotype transmission disequilibrium and evidence for linkage of the CHRNA7 gene region to schizophrenia in Southern African Bantu families. *Am J Med Genet*, 96, 196-201 (2000)
- 141. Xu, J., M. T. Pato, C. D. Torre, H. Medeiros, C. Carvalho, V. S. Basile, A. Bauer, A. Dourado, J. Valente, M. J. Soares, A. A. Macedo, I. Coelho, C. P. Ferreira, M. H. Azevedo, F. Macciardi, J. L. Kennedy & C. N. Pato: Evidence for linkage disequilibrium between the alpha 7-nicotinic receptor gene (CHRNA7) locus and schizophrenia in Azorean families. *Am J Med Genet*, 105, 669-74 (2001)
- 142. Tsuang, D. W., A. D. Skol, S. V. Faraone, S. Bingham, K. A. Young, S. Prabhudesai, S. L. Haverstock, F. Mena, A. S. Menon, D. Bisset, J. Pepple, F. Sauter, C. Baldwin, D. Weiss, J. Collins, M. Boehnke, G. D. Schellenberg & M. T. Tsuang: Examination of genetic linkage of chromosome 15 to schizophrenia in a large Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study sample. *Am J Med Genet*, 105, 662-8 (2001)
- 143. Liu, C. M., H. G. Hwu, M. W. Lin, W. C. Ou-Yang, S. F. Lee, C. S. Fann, S. H. Wong & S. H. Hsieh: Suggestive evidence for linkage of schizophrenia to

- markers at chromosome 15q13-14 in Taiwanese families. *Am J Med Genet*, 105, 658-61 (2001)
- 144. De Luca, V., H. Wang, A. Squassina, G. W. Wong, J. Yeomans & J. L. Kennedy: Linkage of M5 muscarinic and alpha7-nicotinic receptor genes on 15q13 to schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology*, 50, 124-7 (2004)
- 145. Neves-Pereira, M., A. S. Bassett, W. G. Honer, D. Lang, N. A. King & J. L. Kennedy: No evidence for linkage of the CHRNA7 gene region in Canadian schizophrenia families. *Am J Med Genet*, 81, 361-3 (1998)
- 146. Curtis, L., J. L. Blouin, U. Radhakrishna, C. Gehrig, V. K. Lasseter, P. Wolyniec, G. Nestadt, B. Dombroski, H. H. Kazazian, A. E. Pulver, D. Housman, D. Bertrand & S. E. Antonarakis: No evidence for linkage between schizophrenia and markers at chromosome 15q13-14. *Am J Med Genet*, 88, 109-12 (1999)
- 147. Lai, I. C., C. J. Hong & S. J. Tsai: Association study of a nicotinic receptor variant with schizophrenic disorders. *Neuropsychobiology*, 43, 15-8 (2001)
- 148. Meyer, J., G. Ortega, K. Schraut, G. Nurnberg, F. Ruschendorf, K. Saar, R. Mossner, T. F. Wienker, A. Reis, G. Stober & K. P. Lesch: Exclusion of the neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 subunit gene as a candidate for catatonic schizophrenia in a large family supporting the chromosome 15q13-22 locus. *Mol Psychiatry*, 7, 220-3 (2002)
- 149. Gault, J., M. Robinson, R. Berger, C. Drebing, J. Logel, J. Hopkins, T. Moore, S. Jacobs, J. Meriwether, M. J. Choi, E. J. Kim, K. Walton, K. Buiting, A. Davis, C. Breese, R. Freedman & S. Leonard: Genomic organization and partial duplication of the human alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene (CHRNA7). *Genomics*, 52, 173-85 (1998)
- 150. Gault, J., J. Hopkins, R. Berger, C. Drebing, J. Logel, C. Walton, M. Short, R. Vianzon, A. Olincy, R. G. Ross, L. E. Adler, R. Freedman & S. Leonard: Comparison of polymorphisms in the alpha7 nicotinic receptor gene and its partial duplication in schizophrenic and control subjects. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 123, 39-49 (2003)
- 151. Raux, G., F. Bonnet-Brilhault, S. Louchart, E. Houy, R. Gantier, D. Levillain, G. Allio, S. Haouzir, M. Petit, M. Martinez, T. Frebourg, F. Thibaut & D. Campion: The -2 bp deletion in exon 6 of the 'alpha 7-like' nicotinic receptor subunit gene is a risk factor for the P50 sensory gating deficit. *Mol Psychiatry*, 7, 1006-11 (2002)
- 152. Leonard, S., J. Gault, J. Logel, M. Short, R. Berger, C. Drebing, A. Olincy, R. G. Ross, L. E. Adler & R. Freedman: Promoter mutations in the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene are associated with an inhibitory deficit found in schizophrenia. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 114, (2002)

- 153. Leonard, S., J. Gault, J. Hopkins, J. Logel, R. Vianzon, M. Short, C. Drebing, R. Berger, D. Venn, P. Sirota, G. Zerbe, A. Olincy, R. G. Ross, L. E. Adler & R. Freedman: Association of promoter variants in the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene with an inhibitory deficit found in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 59, 1085-96 (2002)
- 154. Lindstrom, J.: Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in health and disease. *Mol Neurobiol*, 15, 193-222 (1997)
- 155. De Luca, V., S. Voineskos, G. Wong & J. L. Kennedy: Genetic interaction between alpha4 and beta2 subunits of high affinity nicotinic receptor: analysis in schizophrenia. *Exp Brain Res*, 174, 292-6 (2006)
- 156. Callinan, P. A. & A. P. Feinberg: The emerging science of epigenomics. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15 Spec No 1, R95-101 (2006)
- 157. Nan, X., H. H. Ng, C. A. Johnson, C. D. Laherty, B. M. Turner, R. N. Eisenman & A. Bird: Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. *Nature*, 393, 386-9 (1998)
- 158. Jones, P. L., G. J. Veenstra, P. A. Wade, D. Vermaak, S. U. Kass, N. Landsberger, J. Strouboulis & A. P. Wolffe: Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Nat Genet*, 19, 187-91 (1998)
- 159. Kato, C., A. Petronis, Y. Okazaki, M. Tochigi, T. Umekage & T. Sasaki: Molecular genetic studies of schizophrenia: challenges and insights. *Neurosci Res*, 43, 295-304 (2002)
- 160. Singh, S. M., B. Murphy & R. O'Reilly: Epigenetic contributors to the discordance of monozygotic twins. *Clin Genet*, 62, 97-103 (2002)
- 161. Singh, S. M., B. Murphy & R. L. O'Reilly: Involvement of gene-diet/drug interaction in DNA methylation and its contribution to complex diseases: from cancer to schizophrenia. *Clin Genet*, 64, 451-60 (2003)
- 162. Abdolmaleky, H. M., C. L. Smith, S. V. Faraone, R. Shafa, W. Stone, S. J. Glatt & M. T. Tsuang: Methylomics in psychiatry: Modulation of gene-environment interactions may be through DNA methylation. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 127, 51-9 (2004)
- 163. Petronis, A.: The origin of schizophrenia: Genetic thesis, epigenetic antithesis, and resolving synthesis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55, 965-970 (2004)
- 164. Singh, S. M., P. McDonald, B. Murphy & R. O'Reilly: Incidental neurodevelopmental episodes in the etiology of schizophrenia: An expanded model involving epigenetics and development. *Clinical Genetics*, 65, 435-440 (2004)

- 165. Kan, P. X., V. Popendikyte, Z. A. Kaminsky, R. H. Yolken & A. Petronis: Epigenetic studies of genomic retroelements in major psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 67, 95-106 (2004)
- 166. Sharma, R. P.: Schizophrenia, epigenetics and ligand-activated nuclear receptors: a framework for chromatin therapeutics. *Schizophr Res*, 72, 79-90 (2005)
- 167. Abdolmaleky, H. M., K. H. Cheng, A. Russo, C. L. Smith, S. V. Faraone, M. Wilcox, R. Shafa, S. J. Glatt, G. Nguyen, J. F. Ponte, S. Thiagalingam & M. T. Tsuang: Hypermethylation of the reelin (RELN) promoter in the brain of schizophrenic patients: a preliminary report. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 134, 60-6 (2005)
- 168. Grayson, D. R., X. Jia, Y. Chen, R. P. Sharma, C. P. Mitchell, A. Guidotti & E. Costa: Reelin promoter hypermethylation in schizophrenia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 9341-6 (2005)
- 169. Iwamoto, K., M. Bundo, K. Yamada, H. Takao, Y. Iwayama-Shigeno, T. Yoshikawa & T. Kato: DNA methylation status of SOX10 correlates with its downregulation and oligodendrocyte dysfunction in schizophrenia. *J Neurosci*, 25, 5376-81 (2005)
- 170. Shimabukuro, M., T. Sasaki, A. Imamura, T. Tsujita, C. Fuke, T. Umekage, M. Tochigi, K. Hiramatsu, T. Miyazaki, T. Oda, J. Sugimoto, Y. Jinno & Y. Okazaki: Global hypomethylation of peripheral leukocyte DNA in male patients with schizophrenia: A potential link between epigenetics and schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res* (2006)
- 171. Veldic, M., A. Guidotti, E. Maloku, J. M. Davis & E. Costa: In psychosis, cortical interneurons overexpress DNA-methyltransferase 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 2152-7 (2005)
- 172. Keller, S. H., J. Lindstrom, M. Ellisman & P. Taylor: Adjacent basic amino acid residues recognized by the COP I complex and ubiquitination govern endoplasmic reticulum to cell surface trafficking of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha-Subunit. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 18384-91 (2001)
- 173. Wang, J. M., L. Zhang, Y. Yao, N. Viroonchatapan, E. Rothe & Z. Z. Wang: A transmembrane motif governs the surface trafficking of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Nat Neurosci*, 5, 963-70 (2002)
- 174. Wanamaker, C. P., J. C. Christianson & W. N. Green: Regulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor assembly. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 998, 66-80 (2003)
- 175. Jeanclos, E. M., L. Lin, M. W. Treuil, J. Rao, M. A. DeCoster & R. Anand: The chaperone protein 14-3-3eta interacts with the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha 4 subunit. Evidence for a dynamic role in subunit stabilization. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 28281-90 (2001)
- 176. Karayiorgou, M. & J. A. Gogos: A turning point in schizophrenia genetics. *Neuron*, 19, 967-79 (1997)

- 177. Toyooka, K., T. Muratake, T. Tanaka, S. Igarashi, H. Watanabe, H. Takeuchi, S. Hayashi, M. Maeda, M. Takahashi, S. Tsuji, T. Kumanishi & Y. Takahashi: 14-3-3 protein eta chain gene (YWHAH) polymorphism and its genetic association with schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet*, 88, 164-7 (1999)
- 178. Jia, Y., X. Yu, B. Zhang, Y. Yuan, Q. Xu, Y. Shen & Y. Shen: An association study between polymorphisms in three genes of 14-3-3 (tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein) family and paranoid schizophrenia in northern Chinese population. *Eur Psychiatry*, 19, 377-9 (2004)
- 179. Hayakawa, T., H. Ishiguro, M. Toru, H. Hamaguchi & T. Arinami: Systematic search for mutations in the 14-3-3 eta chain gene on chromosome 22 in schizophrenics. *Psychiatr Genet*, 8, 33-6 (1998)
- 180. Bell, R., J. Munro, C. Russ, J. F. Powell, A. Bruinvels, R. W. Kerwin & D. A. Collier: Systematic screening of the 14-3-3 eta (eta) chain gene for polymorphic variants and case-control analysis in schizophrenia. *Am J Med Genet*, 96, 736-43 (2000)
- 181. Duan, S., R. Gao, Q. Xing, J. Du, Z. Liu, Q. Chen, H. Wang, G. Feng & L. He: A family-based association study of schizophrenia with polymorphisms at three candidate genes. *Neurosci Lett*, 379, 32-6 (2005)
- 182. Vawter, M. P., T. Barrett, C. Cheadle, B. P. Sokolov, W. H. Wood, 3rd, D. M. Donovan, M. Webster, W. J. Freed & K. G. Becker: Application of cDNA microarrays to examine gene expression differences in schizophrenia. *Brain Res Bull*, 55, 641-50 (2001)
- 183. Middleton, F. A., L. Peng, D. A. Lewis, P. Levitt & K. Mirnics: Altered expression of 14-3-3 genes in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30, 974-83 (2005)
- 184. Kuryatov, A., J. Luo, J. Cooper & J. Lindstrom: Nicotine acts as a pharmacological chaperone to upregulate human alpha4beta2 acetylcholine receptors. *Mol Pharmacol*, 68, 1839-51 (2005)
- 185. Sallette, J., S. Pons, A. Devillers-Thiery, M. Soudant, L. Prado de Carvalho, J. P. Changeux & P. J. Corringer: Nicotine upregulates its own receptors through enhanced intracellular maturation. *Neuron*, 46, 595-607 (2005)
- 186. Corringer, P. J., J. Sallette & J. P. Changeux: Nicotine enhances intracellular nicotinic receptor maturation: A novel mechanism of neural plasticity? *Journal of Physiology-Paris*, 99, 162-171 (2006)
- 187. Vallejo, Y. F., B. Buisson, D. Bertrand & W. N. Green: Chronic nicotine exposure upregulates nicotinic receptors by a novel mechanism. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 5563-5572 (2005)

- 188. Yakel, J. L.: Calcineurin regulation of synaptic function: from ion channels to transmitter release and gene transcription. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 18, 124-34 (1997)
- 189. Hilfiker, S.: Neuronal calcium sensor-1: a multifunctional regulator of secretion. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31, 828-32 (2003)
- 190. Zhu, M. X.: Multiple roles of calmodulin and other Ca (2+)-binding proteins in the functional regulation of TRP channels. *Pflugers Arch*, 451, 105-15 (2005)
- 191. Lin, L., E. M. Jeanclos, M. Treuil, K. H. Braunewell, E. D. Gundelfinger & R. Anand: The calcium sensor protein visinin-like protein-1 modulates the surface expression and agonist sensitivity of the alpha 4beta 2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 41872-8 (2002)
- 192. Bernstein, H. G., K. H. Braunewell, C. Spilker, P. Danos, B. Baumann, S. Funke, S. Diekmann, E. D. Gundelfinger & B. Bogerts: Hippocampal expression of the calcium sensor protein visinin-like protein-1 in schizophrenia. *Neuroreport*, 13, 393-6 (2002)
- 193. Dalack, G. W. & J. H. Meador-Woodruff: Acute feasibility and safety of a smoking reduction strategy for smokers with schizophrenia. *Nicotine Tob Res*, 1, 53-7 (1999)
- 194. Tidey, J. W., S. C. O'Neill & S. T. Higgins: Contingent monetary reinforcement of smoking reductions, with and without transdermal nicotine, in outpatients with schizophrenia. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*, 10, 241-7 (2002)
- 195. Smith, R. C., A. Singh, M. Infante, A. Khandat & A. Kloos: Effects of cigarette smoking and nicotine nasal spray on psychiatric symptoms and cognition in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 27, 479-97 (2002)
- 196. Williams, J. M., D. M. Ziedonis & J. Foulds: A case series of nicotine nasal spray in the treatment of tobacco dependence among patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv*, 55, 1064-6 (2004)
- 197. Chou, K. R., R. Chen, J. F. Lee, C. H. Ku & R. B. Lu: The effectiveness of nicotine-patch therapy for smoking cessation in patients with schizophrenia. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 41, 321-330 (2004)
- 198. Radek, R. J., H. M. Miner, N. A. Bratcher, M. W. Decker, M. Gopalakrishnan & R. S. Bitner: Alpha4beta2 nicotinic receptor stimulation contributes to the effects of nicotine in the DBA/2 mouse model of sensory gating. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 187, 47-55 (2006)
- 199. Luntz-Leybman, V., P. C. Bickford & R. Freedman: Cholinergic gating of response to auditory stimuli in rat hippocampus. *Brain Res*, 587, 130-6 (1992)

- 200. Freedman, R., C. Wetmore, I. Stromberg, S. Leonard & L. Olson: Alpha-bungarotoxin binding to hippocampal interneurons: immunocytochemical characterization and effects on growth factor expression. *J Neurosci*, 13, 1965-75 (1993)
- 201. Fabian-Fine, R., P. Skehel, M. L. Errington, H. A. Davies, E. Sher, M. G. Stewart & A. Fine: Ultrastructural distribution of the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit in rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci*, 21, 7993-8003 (2001)
- 202. Miller, C. L. & R. Freedman: Medial septal neuron activity in relation to an auditory sensory gating paradigm. *Neuroscience*, 55, 373-80 (1993)
- 203. Miller, C. L. & R. Freedman: The activity of hippocampal interneurons and pyramidal cells during the response of the hippocampus to repeated auditory stimuli. *Neuroscience*, 69, 371-81 (1995)
- 204. Radcliffe, K. A., J. L. Fisher, R. Gray & J. A. Dani: Nicotinic modulation of glutamate and GABA synaptic transmission of hippocampal neurons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 868, 591-610 (1999)
- 205. Hershman, K. M., R. Freedman & P. C. Bickford: GABAB antagonists diminish the inhibitory gating of auditory response in the rat hippocampus. *Neurosci Lett*, 190, 133-6 (1995)
- 206. Adler, L. E., A. Olincy, M. Waldo, J. G. Harris, J. Griffith, K. Stevens, K. Flach, H. Nagamoto, P. Bickford, S. Leonard & R. Freedman: Schizophrenia, sensory gating, and nicotinic receptors. *Schizophr Bull*, 24, 189-202 (1998)
- 207. Mizukami, K., M. Sasaki, M. Ishikawa, M. Iwakiri, S. Hidaka, H. Shiraishi & S. Iritani: Immunohistochemical localization of gamma-aminobutyric acid (B) receptor in the hippocampus of subjects with schizophrenia. *Neuroscience Letters*, 283, 101-104 (2000)
- 208. Stevens, K. E., R. Freedman, A. C. Collins, M. Hall, S. Leonard, M. J. Marks & G. M. Rose: Genetic correlation of inhibitory gating of hippocampal auditory evoked response and alpha-bungarotoxin-binding nicotinic cholinergic receptors in inbred mouse strains. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 15, 152-62 (1996)
- 209. de Fiebre, C. M., E. M. Meyer, J. C. Henry, S. I. Muraskin, W. R. Kem & R. L. Papke: Characterization of a series of anabaseine-derived compounds reveals that the 3-(4)-dimethylaminocinnamylidine derivative is a selective agonist at neuronal nicotinic alpha 7/125I-alphabungarotoxin receptor subtypes. *Mol Pharmacol*, 47, 164-71 (1995)
- 210. Kem, W. R.: Alzheimer's drug design based upon an invertebrate toxin (anabaseine) which is a potent nicotinic receptor agonist. *Invert Neurosci*, 3, 251-9 (1997)

- 211. Stevens, K. E., W. R. Kem & R. Freedman: Selective alpha 7 nicotinic receptor stimulation normalizes chronic cocaine-induced loss of hippocampal sensory inhibition in C3H mice. *Biol Psychiatry*, 46, 1443-50 (1999)
- 212. Stevens, K. E. & K. D. Wear: Normalizing effects of nicotine and a novel nicotinic agonist on hippocampal auditory gating in two animal models. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 57, 869-74 (1997)
- 213. Stevens, K. E., W. R. Kem, V. M. Mahnir & R. Freedman: Selective alpha7-nicotinic agonists normalize inhibition of auditory response in DBA mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 136, 320-7 (1998)
- 214. O'Neill, H. C., K. Rieger, W. R. Kem & K. E. Stevens: DMXB, an alpha7 nicotinic agonist, normalizes auditory gating in isolation-reared rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 169, 332-9 (2003)
- 215. Simosky, J. K., K. E. Stevens, W. R. Kem & R. Freedman: Intragastric DMXB-A, an alpha7 nicotinic agonist, improves deficient sensory inhibition in DBA/2 mice. *Biol Psychiatry*, 50, 493-500 (2001)
- 216. Olincy, A., J. G. Harris, L. L. Johnson, V. Pender, S. Kongs, D. Allensworth, J. Ellis, G. O. Zerbe, S. Leonard, K. E. Stevens, J. O. Stevens, L. Martin, L. E. Adler, F. Soti, W. R. Kem & R. Freedman: Proof-of-concept trial of an alpha7 nicotinic agonist in schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 63, 630-8 (2006)
- 217. Wishka, D. G., D. P. Walker, K. M. Yates, S. C. Reitz, S. Jia, J. K. Myers, K. L. Olson, E. J. Jacobsen, M. L. Wolfe, V. E. Groppi, A. J. Hanchar, B. A. Thornburgh, L. A. Cortes-, E. H. F. Wong, B. A. Staton, T. J. Raub, N. R. Higdon, T. M. Wall, R. S. Hurst, R. R. Walters, W. E. Hoffmann, M. Hajos, S. Franklin, G. Carey, L. H. Gold, K. K. Cook, S. B. Sands, S. X. Zhao, J. R. Soglia, A. S. Kalgutkar, S. P. Arneric & B. N. Rogers: Discovery of N-[(3R)-1-azabicyclo[2.2.2]oct-3-yl]furo[2,3-c]pyridine-5-carboxamide, an agonist of the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, for the potential treatment of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: Synthesis and structure-activity relationship. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 49, 4425-4436 (2006)
- 218. Ramirez, M. J., E. Cenarruzabeitia, B. Lasheras & J. Del Rio: Involvement of GABA systems in acetylcholine release induced by 5-HT3 receptor blockade in slices from rat entorhinal cortex. *Brain Res*, 712, 274-80 (1996)
- 219. Adler, L. E., E. M. Cawthra, K. A. Donovan, J. G. Harris, H. T. Nagamoto, A. Olincy & M. C. Waldo: Improved p50 auditory gating with ondansetron in medicated schizophrenia patients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 162, 386-8 (2005)
- 220. Levkovitz, Y., G. Arnest, S. Mendlovic, I. Treves & S. Fennig: The effect of Ondansetron on memory in schizophrenic patients. *Brain Res Bull*, 65, 291-5 (2005)

- 221. Macor, J. E., D. Gurley, T. Lanthorn, J. Loch, R. A. Mack, G. Mullen, O. Tran, N. Wright & J. C. Gordon: The 5-HT3 antagonist tropisetron (ICS 205-930) is a potent and selective alpha7 nicotinic receptor partial agonist. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 11, 319-21 (2001)
- 222. Papke, R. L., H. C. Schiff, B. A. Jack & N. A. Horenstein: Molecular dissection of tropisetron, an alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-selective partial agonist. *Neurosci Lett*, 378, 140-4 (2005)
- 223. Koike, K., K. Hashimoto, N. Takai, E. Shimizu, N. Komatsu, H. Watanabe, M. Nakazato, N. Okamura, K. E. Stevens, R. Freedman & M. Iyo: Tropisetron improves deficits in auditory P50 suppression in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 76, 67-72 (2005)
- 224. Hashimoto, K., M. Iyo, R. Freedman & K. E. Stevens: Tropisetron improves deficient inhibitory auditory processing in DBA/2 mice: role of alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 183, 13-9 (2005)
- 225. Hurst, R. S., M. Hajos, M. Raggenbass, T. M. Wall, N. R. Higdon, J. A. Lawson, K. L. Rutherford-Root, M. B. Berkenpas, W. E. Hoffmann, D. W. Piotrowski, V. E. Groppi, G. Allaman, R. Ogier, S. Bertrand, D. Bertrand & S. P. Arneric: A novel positive allosteric modulator of the alpha7 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterization. *J Neurosci*, 25, 4396-405 (2005)
- Abbreviations: NRG1: neuregulin 1 gene, DTNBP1 dysbindin gene, DAAO: D-aminoacid oxidase gene, RGS4: regulator of G-protein signaling-4 gene, COMT: catechol-O-methyltransferase gene, PRODH: proline dehydrogenase gene, CAPON: carboxy-terminal PDZ ligand of neuronal nitric oxide synthase gene, CCK cholecystokinin gene, CHRNA7: alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene, PPI: prepulse startle inhibition, SPEM: smooth pursuit eye movements, α -BTX: α-bungarotoxin, MLA – methyllycaconitine, CHRFAM7A: duplicated sequence of the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene, CHRNA4 – alpha 4 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene, CHRNB2 - beta 2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene, NMJ: neuromuscular junction, ER: endoplasmic reticulum, VILIP-1: visininlike protein-1, 5-HT – serotonin, DMXB-A: dimethoxybenzylidene) anabaseine, PAMs: positive allosteric modulators, CNS: central nervous system, RTN: reticular thalamic nucleus
- **Key words:** Brain, Schizophrenia, Smoking, Nicotinic receptors, Review
- Send correspondence to: Catherine E. Adams, Ph.D., University of Colorado at Denver and Health Sciences Center at Fitzsimons, Mail Stop 8344, P.O. Box 6511, Aurora, Colorado 80045, Tel: 303-724-4422, Fax:303-724-4425, E-mail:cathy.adams@uchsc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm